1951

Great American Indemnity Company v. W. S. Berryessa and Frank Berryessa : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action brought by plaintiff (appellant) against the defendant W. S. Berryessa, (the defendant Frank Berryessa could not be served with summons by reason of his absence from the State of Utah), upon a joint and several promissory note executed by defendants. Defendant W. S. Berryessa admitted the execution of the note, admitted default in the monthly payment, admitted his refusal to pay, and demanded a cancellation of the note as to him, based upon the alleged ground of duress and want of consideration. By way of counterclaim, defendant also prayed for judgment against plaintiff for the return of \$1550.00 paid by defendant to plaintiff and also for the return of an uncashed check in the sum of \$500.00, based upon the same grounds. Trial to a jury resulted in a verdict in favor of defendant, cancelling the note, and also for a return of the \$1500.00 and the uncashed check.

Much of the evidence is without conflict. However there was a sharp conflict in the evidence as to what occurred at a meeting which was alleged to have occurred in the office of J. G. Hagman on June 6, 1950. We shall very briefly summarize the evidence.

Defendant W. S. Berryessa is the father of the defendant Frank Berryessa. Frank Berryessa was an employee of the Eccles Hotel Company, which operates the Hotel Ben Lomond at Ogden, Weber County, Utah. Plaintiff issued a surety bond guaranteeing the honesty and integrity of said employee.

About the forepart of January, 1950, the hotel discovered a shortage in the cash entrusted to Frank Berryessa. When confronted with the accusation, he admitted the same, but the amount was then undetermined. The father was informed of the shortage. He immediately came to the office of the hotel, accompanied by Frank, and had a talk with Irvine F. Keller, the company auditor. The defendant stated that he was prepared to make good any and all losses and was very insistent on keeping the matter quiet and not reporting it to the bonding company. At that time it was more or less assumed that the shortage involved only the so-called "cash account," and the shortage was thought to be in the neighborhood of \$2000.00. Defendant insisted on signing a note to the hotel company for the amount of the assumed shortage, aggregating \$2000.00. Later the hotel discovered discrepancies and apparent shortages in what is referred to as the "ledger account" and then it became evident that the shortage would be greater than at first anticipated. However, defendant insisted that whatever the amount he was prepared to

make it good. When the auditors began investigating the ledger accounts, Frank, of course, knew of the shortage and also knew it would be discovered. He thereupon wrote a list of the ledger accounts on a small piece of paper, which aggregated some \$4000.00 or thereabouts, and handed the same to his wife and then apparently fled the state. His wife then handed this list to the defendant, suggesting, however, that the same be not given to the hotel but that they wait developments and see if the hotel was successful in finding the same. However, the defendant, in a subsequent interview, handed the list to Mr. Keller, and defendant again insisted that he was prepared to take care of the shortage. He explained that he had fortunately just sold some property to Safeway, from which he was realizing a substantial profit, and that he would have funds available to make good the shortage.

When it had been established that the shortage would aggregate around \$6500.00, Campbell Eccles, Manager of the hotel, called defendant and told him that in view of the amount involved he felt duty-bound to notify the bonding company, and the defendant concurred in his conclusion. Eccles thereupon notified the plaintiff's agent of the shortage. Plaintiff referred the matter to J. G. Hagman, Manager of the Insurance Adjustment Company, to adjust the loss. Mr. Hagman came to Ogden and met defendant at the hotel. At that time Mr. Hagman suggested to defendant that he ought to bring Frank back and he stated that he would do so. There was some general talk about the financial responsibility of the members of the family, including a son-in-law who had a ranch in New Mexico. Defendant did

have Frank return to Ogden, and Hagman and the defendants and Mr. Keller met at the hotel. A general conversation ensued concerning the accounts and the shortages and the circumstances leading up to the same.

At a subsequent meeting between the same parties and after the auditor had made a full and complete audit, Frank signed the same, (Defendant's Exhibit 1), in which he admitted the accuracy of the auditor's report. After that Frank and defendant went down to Salt Lake to Hagman's office, and some general discussions were had with respect to Frank's ability to make good the loss. Frank insisted that he had turned some \$2000.00 of the shortage to his brother-in-law, Roy Patterson, and Hagman suggested that if such was the case, then the brother-in-law should be willing to sign a note with defendant and Frank, and as a result of the discussion Hagman prepared a note for \$4678.40 (the same being the difference between the admitted shortage and the note previously signed by Frank and the defendant and delivered to the hotel.) The note was made payable to the plaintiff and provided for payments at the rate of \$250.00 quarterly, commencing June 1, 1950. It was assumed and apparently tacitly agreed and understood that the note to be signed by Frank, Roy Patterson, and the defendant. Frank took the unsigned note and he and his father then left Hagman's office. Later on defendant and Frank returned to Hagman's office with the note unsigned. Frank stated that the brother-in-law either would not sign the note or they had not been able to contact him. Up to this point there is no contention on the part of defendant that anything improper had occurred and no contention made

of any duress prior to this meeting. (Tr. 56) The testimony all reflects a situation where the defendant appeared to be most anxious to be of financial assistance to Frank, and in view of his previous declarations that he was prepared to assist him in making good the loss, it seemed to be at least tacitly understood and accepted as a fact that the defendant intended to sign a note with Frank for the amount of the shortage, and the suggestion apparently had come from defendant, right from the first meeting, that he intended to and wanted to do so.

We make this explanation at this point in order to lay the foundation for what the defendant claims took place at a meeting which he said occurred in Hagman's office on June 6, 1950, but which did not occur on that date, and the signing of the note did not occur at that time or place, as first testified by defendant.

Concerning this matter we quote in full the direct testimony of the defendant commencing on page 20 to the end of page 22:

“Q Now, you started to tell us about a later meeting that you had.

A Later we took that note, Frank and I took the note back to Mr. Hagman and told him Roy wouldn't sign the note, or hadn't signed it.

Q Now, just one meeting, can we fix the approximate time of the meeting you are now speaking of?

A I think this second meeting was June six, as I remember.

Q So you are now down to a meeting that you had with Mr. Hagman on June 6, 1950.

A Yes.

Q Which is the date that the note in question bears.

A Yes.

Q All right. Now, who was present at that meeting and where was it held?

A Held in Mr. Hagman's office in the Continental Building in Salt Lake City.

Q And who was present?

A Mr. Hagman, Frank, and I.

Q All right. Now, will you state in substance and effect what transpired at that meeting? You have spoken of taking the unsigned note back.

A Well, as I remember Mr. Hagman wanted me to sign that note, and I refused to sign that note because I couldn't pay that amount, and I knew Frank couldn't pay that amount.

Q Now, what amount are you speaking of?

A \$250.00 a quarter.

Q And that was a note made out for the full \$6800.00.

A As I remember, yes. We argued back and forth about this note; Mr. Hagman got angry and swore and pounded the desk with his fist, and said, 'You can't come here and tell me what you will do.' I said, 'I can't sign that note because I can't pay it.' We talked for a while. He said, 'what can you pay,' and

I said, 'I don't think we can pay more than \$50.00 a month,' and he said, 'at \$50.00 a month, you'll never get this paid.' Then he agreed to make the note out, and I was to pay him \$2,000.00 cash and sign the note with Frank, making the note payable at \$50.00 a month. We signed that note, and I come back to Ogden and took a mortgage on my home.

Q Now, let's stop right there a minute. Was this note for \$4865.20 prepared on the occasion of this June 6th meeting in Mr. Hagman's office?

A Yes. Mr. Hagman had his secretary make that note out while we were there.

Q And was it signed at that time?

A It was signed at that time.

Q And was it left with Mr. Hagman?

A Yes. It was left with Mr. Hagman.

Q And is that the note which has been introduced in evidence as plaintiff's exhibit A?

A Yes, as far as I know that is the exact note.

Q Now, you have spoken of a statement made by Mr. Hagman as to what would happen if you didn't do as you were told. Was anything said as to what would happen if you did do what you were told?

A Mr. Hagman told me if we would sign the note and I would make that payment that he wouldn't prosecute Frank, but if I didn't he would have to prosecute him.

Q Now, following the signing of that note and your agreement to pay two thousand dollars

as you have testified to, you returned to Ogden with Frank.

A Yes.

Q And what did you do in connection with the two thousand dollars?

A Well, I went to the loan companies and borrowed money to pay two thousand dollars. I owed on my improvements on the place, and I only had \$1500.00 left to pay Mr. Hagman. I got a cashiers check dated July 3, and it was made out to me, but I signed it over to the adjustment company.

Q Well, now, when did you see Mr. Hagman again after this June 6th meeting?

A I think the Fourth of July. I wouldn't be sure. I got the check out on the third of July. I think it was the Fourth, and Mr. Hagman came down to my home, and I gave him that cashiers check for \$1500.00 and my personal check for \$500.00, and I asked him if he would hold that personal check until I could take out a further loan and meet it, and he said that he would.

Q As you recall that, that was about July four.

A Yes. I think it was. It was soon after I got that check. I think it was July four because I was around home working when Mr. Hagman drove up.

Q And at that time you endorsed over to him this cashier's check for \$1500.00 and gave him your personal check for \$500.00.

A Yes.

Q Which made up the two thousand dollars which you agreed to pay.

A Yes."

The defendant also testified that he personally paid \$50.00 on the note for the July payment, but that the other \$200.00 which was paid on the note was paid by Frank or his wife.

The defendant was then asked the following question (Tr. 26):

"Q Now, Mr. Berryessa, I come back to this June 6 meeting with Mr. Hagman and the occasion for your having signed the \$4800.00 note exhibit A and ask you if you would have signed that note had it not been for the statements made by Mr. Hagman on that occasion?"

Over plaintiff's objection, the Court permitted the defendant to make the following answer:

"A No. I would not have signed that check because I knew, that note because I knew I couldn't meet it because I have my aged mother to take care of and my wife, and I have other obligations I have to pay. I knew I couldn't pay that much money and keep my payments paid up."

The defendant was then asked:

"Q Now, I'll ask you if you would have signed that note at that time had it not been for the statements Mr. Hagman, as testified to by you, that if you did sign Frank would not be criminally prosecuted."

Over the objection of the plaintiff the Court permitted the defendant to make the following answer:

“A No I would not have signed that. That is the only reason I signed it is to keep Frank from going to the penitentiary.”

The defendant was then asked this question at page 27:

“Q Now, coming to July three or four, the date on which you turned over to Mr. Hagman the endorsed cashiers check for \$1500.00, would you have paid that amount of money to him on that date had it not been for the previous statements made by Mr. Hagman on June 6?”

Over plaintiff's objection the Court permitted the witness to answer, “No.”

The witness was then asked the question:

“Q Or would you have given him the \$500.00 personal check, had it not been for those statements made on June 6?”

Again, over the objection of the plaintiff, the Court permitted the defendant to make the following answer:

“A No. I gave him that check to make up the two thousand dollars that I had promised him that other meeting to pay. I tried my best to pay it, but I just couldn't make it.”

Notwithstanding the defendant's positive and unequivocal statement that the note in question was signed by defendant at Hagman's office on June 6th, the defendant, when confronted with positive evidence to the contrary, reluctantly admitted that this statement was untrue, and he admitted that he did not go to Salt Lake

City on June 6th as testified to by him, but that he, his wife, and Frank went down to Hagman's office on Sunday, June 4th; that as a result of that visit Hagman prepared the note in question on the following day, June 5th, and forwarded the same by letter to the defendant addressed at Ogden, Utah, and that the defendant signed the note in Ogden on about June 6th and mailed the signed note with the original letter back to Mr. Hagman in Salt Lake City about June 6th or a day or two thereafter. (See Tr. 41 to 47)

The foregoing evidence, as testified to by defendant on direct examination and as modified by his admissions on cross-examination, constitutes all of the evidence in this case upon which the defendant bases his claim that the note was signed under duress and without consideration. There was also introduced in evidence, as a part of defendant's cross-examination, plaintiff's Exhibits C, D, E, F, and G. These exhibits were letters written by the defendant to the plaintiff on the respective dates which they bear, all of them being subsequent in time to the meeting of June 4th. They show on their face the voluntary acts and conduct of the defendant. Plaintiff then had marked for identification Exhibit H. However the letter was not offered in evidence because it was not written by the defendant and in order to keep the record straight the plaintiff then offered in evidence, as Plaintiff's Exhibit I, a letter written by defendant, which was objected to by defendant and his objection sustained. At this point it should be noted that Mr. Hagman positively and emphatically denied that he made the statements attributed to him by the defendant at the meeting in his office on June 4th.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1. The Court improperly permitted defendant to answer the following question:

“Q Now, Mr. Berryessa, I come back to this June 6th meeting with Mr. Hagman and the occasion for you having signed the \$4800 note, Exhibit A, and ask you if you would have signed the note had it not been for the statements made by Mr. Hagman on that occasion?” (Tr. 26)

and similar questions propounded to the defendant. (Tr. 26 and 27)

POINT 2. The Court improperly refused to allow appellant to introduce Exhibit I, the same being a letter written by defendant to plaintiff, (Tr. 51), which said offer was renewed in the absence of the jury. (Tr. 55)

POINT 3. The evidence of the defendant was insufficient to justify the submission to the jury of the issues of duress or want of consideration, and plaintiff's motion for a directed verdict as to the note sued on should have been granted. (Tr. 58) Renewed at conclusion of trial. (Tr. 124)

POINT 4. The evidence was insufficient to justify the submission to the jury of the issue of defendant's right to recover the \$1550 and check for \$500 set forth in defendant's counterclaim, and plaintiff's motion for dismissal of defendant's counterclaim should have been granted. (Tr. 58) Renewed at conclusion of trial. (Tr. 124)

POINT 5. The Court erred in the giving of certain instructions, the giving of which were excepted to by appellant. (Tr. 134)

POINT 6. The Court erred in its refusal to give to the jury certain instructions as requested by appellant, to which exceptions were taken. (Tr. 133)

POINT 7. The appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial should have been granted.

ARGUMENT

Point 1. Over plaintiff's objection, the Court permitted the defendant to answer the question as to whether he, defendant, would have signed the note had it not been for the statement made by Mr. Hagman on that occasion and similar questions propounded to defendant, all of which appear in the transcript at pages 26 and 27. It is plaintiff's position that the Court should have sustained plaintiff's objection to this question for the following reasons:

A. It called for a conclusion of the witness on the ultimate fact which the jury was to determine.

B. The answer to whether the defendant would or would not have signed the note had it not been for the alleged statements is no proof of duress.

As we conceive and understand the law of duress, it involves much more than the mere question as to whether the defendant would or would not have signed the note in question had it not been for the statements claimed to have been made by Hagman. The question was whether or not the alleged duress brought about a

mental condition whereby the defendant's will was entirely overcome by reason of the alleged threats, so that his act in signing was not the act of the defendant but was in effect the act of the alleged perpetrator of the duress. We shall discuss this matter further when we discuss the law applicable to duress.

Point 2. We think that the Court clearly erred in refusing to admit plaintiff's Exhibit I in evidence. It certainly had some bearing on the question of the state of mind of the defendant when the letter was written and was certainly competent evidence going to his state of mind. We also think the Court erred when the offer was again renewed at the close of the defendant's testimony and in the absence of the jury. (See Tr. 55) It seems to us that where the question involves the state of mind of the defendant when he signed the note and also when he made the subsequent payments, any evidence, if not too remote in time and certainly it cannot be claimed that this was too remote, which might have a bearing upon the state of mind of the signer, is competent and should have been received.

Point 3. At the conclusion of the defendant's evidence, plaintiff moved the Court for a directed verdict as to the legality of the note in question, which motion was overruled and denied. At this point it is admitted that there may have been some question as to whether or not the acceleration provisions of the note permitted the plaintiff to recover the full amount of the note, and on this point the Court concluded that all that was necessary was to have the jury determine whether or not the note was a valid note and leave the legal question of whether the plaintiff could accelerate the note to be

decided as a question of law. No complaint is made by plaintiff as to this ruling of the Court and when plaintiff renewed its motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the trial the motion was so modified as to embrace this point. The question, therefore, presented by the plaintiff is whether or not there was sufficient evidence of duress or want of consideration to submit that issue to the jury, and it makes no difference so far as plaintiff is concerned whether it can accelerate the note or not. The only question is whether the note is a valid obligation.

The reason for the bringing of the action is this: In December of 1950, defendant brought suit against the Insurance Adjustment Company to have the note declared invalid. However, defendant did not sue the owner of the note, Great American Indemnity Company, and that suit was dismissed. The plaintiff, therefore, concluded to bring this suit when the December payment was not made.

Let us analyze the testimony of the defendant in the light of admitted surrounding circumstances for the purpose of determining whether or not there is any evidence upon which the issue of duress could be submitted to the jury.

According to the defendant's own version, at the time the first note was prepared it provided for a payment of \$250.00 each quarter. According to defendant's version of what occurred on June 4th, he said that Mr. Hagman wanted him to sign that note, which he refused to sign because he couldn't pay that amount, that is, he couldn't pay the \$250.00 per quarter. Defend-

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