1951

Great American Indemnity Company v. W. S. Berryessa and Frank Berryessa : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This being an action at law in which a jury in the lower court has rendered its verdict, if there is any substantial evidence to support the verdict this court will not interfere, even though in its judgment, if it were to pass on the facts, the verdict would have been otherwise, or is, in its opinion against the weight of the evidence. As this court has succinctly stated in the case of *Harris v. Ogden Steam Laundry Company* 39 Utah 436, 117 P. 700, and has in substance reiterated many times:

“We cannot interfere in cases that are doubtful with regard to the facts any more than we can in cases that are clear upon the facts. The test is as to whether there is any substantial evidence upon every material issue which must be established in order to authorize a recovery.

If there is, we, like the losing party in the case, must submit to the verdict, although like he, we might think it should have been the other way."

We accordingly restate the facts in accordance with the evidence most favorable to the defendant, as it was the prerogative of the jury to believe such evidence, rather than possibly conflicting evidence offered by plaintiff.

Respondent, W. S. Berryessa, is the father of Frank Berryessa. Frank was an office employee of the Ben Lomond Hotel in Ogden. Plaintiff had issued a surety bond guaranteeing the integrity of Frank. In the forepart of January, 1950, the hotel discovered a shortage in Frank's accounts. Frank notified his father and W. S. Berryessa went to the hotel and met with I. F. Keller, the hotel auditor. It was then assumed that the shortage was in the cash account only, and amounted to \$2,186.00. So far there is no dispute as to the facts.

At this point, however, plaintiff in his statement of facts says:

"The defendant stated that he was prepared to make good any and all losses and was very insistent on keeping the matter quiet and not reporting it to the bonding company * * *. Defendant insisted on signing a note to the Hotel Company for the amount of the assumed shortage, aggregating \$2,000.00."

We call the court's attention, however, to the defendant's precise testimony in regard to this matter:

Q. (By Mr. Young) And didn't you at that time say to Mr. Keller in substance and effect,

“I don’t want you to even tell the bonding company about this shortage”?

A. No, I didn’t.

Q. And didn’t you say, “If you won’t tell the bonding company about this matter, I’ll pay every cent of that shortage”?

A. No, sir.

Q. Either in substance or effect?

A. No, sir.

(Tr. 32-33).

A little later Mr. Berryessa went to the office of Mr. Campbell Eccles, manager of the Hotel, and there signed a note payable to the Hotel in the principal amount of Two Thousand One Hundred Eighty-six (\$2,186.00) Dollars, which was the then assumed amount of the shortage. The circumstances surrounding the signing of this note, as testified to by defendant under cross-examination, are as follows:

A. I signed the note with the understanding that was the full amount that was short and that the bonding company wouldn’t be notified. Mr. Eccles told me the bonding company wouldn’t be notified. I could straighten up that shortage and Frank would be able to work out and pay that back. That was the understanding I had. He said that it would be kept quiet. It wouldn’t be advertised, and that was the reason I signed that note.

Q. Yes. In other words, you at that time asked Mr. Eccles not to notify the bonding company of this shortage.

A. I didn't ask him. He offered that.
(Tr. 34-35).

Later the hotel auditor determined from an examination of the ledger accounts that the amount of the shortage totaled in excess of \$6,000, and at that time Mr. Berryessa again met with Mr. Keller, the hotel auditor, and Mr. Eccles, the hotel manager. In this connection plaintiff in its statements of facts makes the following observation as being the fact:

"However, defendant insisted that whatever the amount, he was prepared to make it good".

We again call the court's attention to the testimony of Mr. Berryessa with regard to that matter.

Q. And didn't you then say in substance and effect, I don't want any publicity given to this matter. I'll pay every cent of it.

A. No sir; I didn't say that. That is impossible. I knew I couldn't pay that.

Q. You didn't make a statement either to that effect either to Mr. Eccles or Mr. Keller.

A. It was never brought up for me to pay that amount.

(Tr. 35).

Mr. Eccles thereupon advised Mr. Berryessa that in view of the large amount of the shortage it would be necessary that the bonding company be notified, which he did through the bonding company's representative Mr. Hagman. Subsequent meetings with Mr. Hagman were held, at one of which, namely, March 3, 1950, Mr. Hagman received from Frank Berryessa a written state-

ment acknowledging his misappropriation of a total of Six Thousand Eight Hundred Sixty-five and 28/100 (\$6,865.28) Dollars (Defendant's Exhibit 1).

Later Frank requested his father to accompany him to a meeting with Mr. Hagman in Mr. Hagman's office in Salt Lake City, and at that time Mr. Hagman and Frank discussed the signing of a note, which note would bear not only Frank's signature, but that of his father, Mr. Berryessa, and his brother-in-law, Roy Patterson. Mr. Hagman prepared such a note which called for quarterly payments of Two Hundred Fifty (\$250.00) Dollars. Frank took the note with him and mailed it to his brother-in-law Roy Patterson in New Mexico, but Patterson returned the note unsigned. (Tr. 18-19). Thereafter and early in June, apparently on June 4, 1950, Frank and his father, this defendant, again went to Mr. Hagman's office in Salt Lake City, at which time Frank advised Mr. Hagman that Patterson had sent the note back unsigned. Mr. Hagman wanted Mr. Berryessa to sign the note, but Mr. Berryessa refused. The defendant then testified (Tr. 21) that upon Mr. Berryessa's refusal to sign the note "Mr. Hagman got angry and swore, and pounded his desk with his fist, and said 'You can't come here and tell me what you will do' ". Mr. Berryessa thereupon told Mr. Hagman that it was impossible for them to meet quarterly payments of \$250, and in response to a question propounded by Mr. Hagman stated that payments of \$50 a month could be made. Mr. Hagman then told Mr. Berryessa that at \$50 a month it would take forever to pay off the full amount of the shortage, but that if Mr. Berryessa would pay \$2,000 in cash and thereby reduce the amount to

\$4,865.20, a note co-signed by Mr. Berryessa in that amount and payable in \$50 monthly installments would be accepted. Mr. Berryessa thereupon agreed to pay \$2,000, and co-sign with Frank upon the note in the amount of \$4,865.20, which is the note here sued upon. Further in regard to his agreement to sign this note and make the \$2,000 cash payment, Mr. Berryessa testified (Tr. 21) as follows:

“Mr. Hagman told me if we would sign the note and I would make that payment that he wouldn’t prosecute Frank, but if I didn’t he would have to prosecute him.”

(Tr. 21-22).

Apparently on the next day, June 5, 1950, Mr. Hagman caused the note to be prepared and forwarded the same to Mr. Berryessa in Ogden, and Mr. Berryessa signed the note on June 6 and returned it to Mr. Hagman. He did not have the \$2,000, but took immediate steps to raise the same by borrowing upon some property he had. Because of other expenses he succeeded in having but \$1,500 of the \$2,000 he had agreed to pay. He got a cashier’s check in the amount of \$1,500, which he delivered to Mr. Hagman on or about July 3, 1950. (Defendant’s Exhibit 2), at that time explaining why he was \$500 short. To make up this shortage he delivered to Mr. Hagman his personal check in the amount of \$500, but asked Mr. Hagman to delay presenting it for payment for a reasonable time to permit him to raise the money to cover it, and Mr. Hagman agreed to this arrangement. The \$500 check was never presented for payment and was in possession of defendant at the time the action was brought. (Defendant’s Exhibit 3). Sub-

sequently, Mr. Berryessa saw Mr. Hagman on two or three occasions primarily in connection with payments upon the note between the time that the note was signed in June, 1950, and the bringing of this action in December, 1950. Five \$50 payments were made thereon, one by Mr. Berryessa out of his own funds, and the other four payments out of funds received by him from Frank's wife. These five payments constituted the installment payments due for July, August, September, October and November. The installment payment due on December 1st was not made, and in December plaintiff purportedly elected to mature the entire principal, because of such default, and brought this action for the full amount of such note, less the payments that had been made thereon.

Defendant defended upon the ground that the note was void as his signature thereon was obtained by duress, and that the note was not supported by any lawful consideration. He counter-claimed against the plaintiff for the return of the \$1,500 he had paid, and the return of his \$500 check, and upon the jury's verdict in his favor judgment was entered by the court in favor of the defendant upon the note and for the return by plaintiff to defendant of the \$1,500 paid and the \$500 check.

As further bearing upon the circumstances under which the note was signed, the \$500 check delivered, and the \$1,500 paid, Mr. Berryessa testified that he would not have signed the note but for the statements and threats made by Mr. Hagman as to what would happen to Frank if he did not do so, nor would he have paid the \$1,500 or given his \$500 check but for such

person for a felony, or under threats of arrest or prosecution, would be void as against public policy.”

And generally, 10 C.J.S., Bills and Notes, Page 630:

“Bills and notes for the concealment of a crime or the suppression or hindering of a criminal prosecution are against public policy and cannot be enforced between the immediate parties, whether the maker was innocent or guilty. If an agreement not to prosecute criminally forms any part of the consideration, it is immaterial that there was an existing indebtedness which could have been a consideration for the instrument, as where the bill or note was given for money embezzled or stolen by the maker.”

Plaintiff's particular point here is that the court erred in permitting the defendant to testify that he would not have signed the note or paid the money but for plaintiff's threats and promises, because it called for a conclusion of the witness.

As the court well recognizes, the line of demarcation between a fact and a conclusion is often difficult of discernment, and, in the last analysis, every statement of fact is to some extent founded on inference or induction. As stated in 32 C.J.S., Evidence, Page 101,

“Much effort is expended during the trial of causes to confine the testimony of witnesses to statements of what they saw, heard, or otherwise observed, as distinguished from the inferences or opinions formed as a result of such observations. The distinction is, however, one which it is in many cases impossible to draw, for the reason that the most simple statement of fact involves an element of coordination, induction,

or inference, the fact and the inference being frequently so blended that they cannot be separated. The modern tendency is to regard it as more important to get the truth of the matter than to quibble over distinctions which are in many cases impracticable, and a witness is permitted to state a fact known to or observed by him even though his statement involves a certain element of inference.”

And again in 20 Am. Jur., Evidence, Page 643:

“The general rule excluding opinions of witnesses is simple in statement, but not so simple in application, for it is not always easy to distinguish in the testimony of a witness facts within his knowledge or observation from his opinions on facts. As a general rule, a witness may testify directly to a composite fact, although in a sense his testimony may include his conclusions from other facts. In the multitudinous affairs of everyday life, it is extremely difficult to distinguish between ‘opinion’ on the one hand and ‘fact’ or ‘knowledge’ on the other. Moreover, objections that proposed testimony states a conclusion only are sometimes pushed to captious extremes. The true solution seems to be that such questions are left for the practical discretion of the trial court.”

Direct application of the foregoing rules to situations similar to the present are to be found in the cases of *Ballard v. Burton* (Vt.) 24 A. 769, wherein the court held it proper for a witness to testify what he would or would not have done, but for another’s promise; and *Western Union Telegraph Co. v. Mitchell*, (Tex.) 44 S. W. 274, wherein it was held proper for a witness to testify what he would have done had a telegram been delivered to him.

More directly in point from a factual standpoint is the case of *Daum v. Urquart*, (S. D.) 249 N. W. 738, which involved an action for the recovery of money allegedly obtained by duress. In this case the plaintiff, while testifying as a witness, was asked if he "would have voluntarily given to the defendant Urquart the sum of \$7,000 if it had not been for the duress, coercion and threats that were given to you there in that office". The question was objected to on the ground that it invaded the province of the jury. The objection was overruled, and the plaintiff said he would not have done so. Error was predicated upon this ruling. The court held as follows:

"It is the theory of the defense that plaintiff admitted that he had taken considerable sums of defendant's money and that he desired to make restitution, and that it was this desire on his part that prompted him to pay the \$7,000. It was for the purpose of showing what really prompted him to pay the money that this question was asked. In *Clark v. Mosier*, 35 S. D. 54, 150 N. W. 475, we held that this question calls for neither a conclusion nor a self-serving declaration, but for a statement of fact. It was for the purpose of showing the inducement that prompted plaintiff to pay the money. It was not binding on the jury and did not prejudice the defendant. The jury was free to draw its own conclusions as to whether he paid the money because his will had been overcome by Crawford and Carter or whether he was prompted by the desire to pay an honest debt."

And *Clark v. Mosier* (S. D.) 150 N. W. 475:

“While on the witness stand, plaintiff was asked whether or not he would have released the cattle if defendant had not agreed to pay the damage. This was objected to on the ground that it calls for a conclusion and a self-serving declaration of the witness. The objection was overruled, and rightly so. The question is not objectionable on either of these grounds. It calls for neither a conclusion nor a self-serving declaration, but for a statement of fact. That plaintiff released the cattle and thereby surrendered his lien thereon was an admitted fact; and the purpose of the question was to show the inducement that prompted plaintiff to forego such security and to show that he acted solely on defendant’s promise to pay.”

In the case of *St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co. v. Guntzburger*, (Minn.) 271 N. W. 478, in which the trial court found duress, and the Supreme Court of Minnesota affirmed, the following was not found improper:

“And he (Hawkland) handed me the note and I refused to sign, and finally says I, ‘Now, what you going to do if I don’t sign that note?’ ‘Well,’ he says, ‘we will turn him over to the bonding company, and you know what that means.’ Says I, ‘Yes, I think that means State’s prison.’ And he said ‘Yes.’ Well, my grandson sat right there and (I) looked in his eyes. I could see him. He faced me. Mr. Hawkland was sitting right about this way from me. And I see the tears was running down his (Lowell’s) cheeks, and that is what got me, and I signed it. I didn’t want my name dragged in that I have a grandson in the State’s prison.

‘Q. And you had been talking about this matter, as you say, all through the evening, the couple hours that he was there? A. Yes, more or less.

‘Q. Now, if this had not been said to you, would you have signed that note otherwise, Mr. Guntzburger? * * * A. I don’t think I would.

‘Q. Is that why you signed the note? A. That is why I signed the note.

‘Q. And did you believe that if you did not sign it your grandson would be turned over to the bonding company and prosecuted and sent to prison? A. I sure did believe it, that is what they would do, and I was thinking of the two children he has got and his wife. * * * ’.

We submit, accordingly, that there was no error in the reception of this testimony.

POINT II

Plaintiff’s second point of argument is that the trial court erred in refusing to receive in evidence its proffered Exhibit I, although plaintiff’s argument is limited substantially to the bare statement that such ruling constituted error. We will pursue the matter somewhat further.

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